No. 69316-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



DRAKE H. SISLEY and ANTOINETTE L. SISLEY, husband and wife,

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
V. ARGUMENT4
A. FALSE STATEMENT – OWNERSHIP OF THE HOUSES DESCRIBED IN THE ARTICLE
B. FALSE STATEMENT – KEITH GILBERT WAS A MANAGER OF DRAKE SISLEY PROPERTY 15
VI. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Dudley v. Farmer's Branch Daily Times, 550 S.W.2d 99 (Tex. Civ.App. 1977)
<i>Herron v. KING TV</i> , 109 Wn.2d 514, 746 P.2d 295 (1985), 112 Wn.2d 762, 776 P.2d 48 (1989)
Mark v. Seattle Times, 96 Wn.2d 473, 635 P.2d 1081 (1981) 5, 6, 10
Mohr v. Grant, 117 Wn.App. 75, 68 P.3d 1159 (2003) 8, 10
Turnbull v. Herald Co., 459 S.W.2d 516 (Mo. Ct. App. 1970) 5
US Mission Corp. v. KIRO-TV, 172 Wn.App. 767, 292 P.3d 137 (2013)
Statutes
RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)
Other Authorities
73 New York University Law Review
Prosser, on Torts (4th Ed.)

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Drake Sisley and Antoinette Sisley are represented by Ray Siderius of Siderius Lonergan & Martin LLP.

II. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The decision, which was filed February 24th is unpublished.

Both petitioner and respondent have filed motions to publish which were granted on March 19, 2014. A copy of the decision is attached.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Whether in a libel case the court can ignore a factual dispute as to the gist or sting of the publication and decide the issue as a matter of law.
- (2) Whether, if so, the court, in deciding issues of fact as a matter of law can ignore the affidavits and deposition testimony that establish false statements and rely instead on articles and newspapers to support claimed accuracy.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Drake Sisley and his wife Antoinette are longtime residents of Seattle, and have, for over 50 years, been active owners of rental real properties in the Seattle area. Their properties have always been maintained in perfect condition and they have enjoyed an excellent reputation as landlords. They

have routinely done all the work themselves, including the painting, carpentry, electrical and heating, more recently receiving assistance from their son, John Sisley who is an attorney and a licensed building contractor. Photos of some of Drake and Antoinette's rentals are exhibits to Drake Sisley's affidavit (copy attached).

Neither Drake nor Antoinette have ever owned any interest in properties in the Roosevelt neighborhood, the area near and surrounding Roosevelt High School. Drake has operated a small business in the Roosevelt neighborhood, a retail hardware store, located across the street from the high school.

The school publishes *The Roosevelt News*, with the articles prepared by students in journalism class, for credit, and supervised by a journalism teacher. The paper is circulated to subscribers and is available on the internet.

In 2003, an article written by a Roosevelt student in the journalism class, appeared in the school newspaper. The article referred to horribly rundown residences (slums) in the immediate area of the high school and falsely stated that Drake Sisley was an owner of these slums. In fact, the homes were an eyesore and in abominable condition but neither Drake Sisley nor

Antoinette Sisley had any ownership interest or control over them. They were owned by Drake's brother, Hugh Sisley. Yet the article stated ownership by the "Sisley brothers."

The article upset Drake – caused damage to his reputation, personal concern and damage to his small business in the neighborhood. He did not wish to sue and instead met with the Roosevelt High School principal, explaining he had no ownership or control of the houses and was damaged by the article. The principal took notes and assured Drake it would not happen again.

In 2009 it did happen again, with a new article in *The Roosevelt News* entitled "Sisley Slums Cause Controversy Developers and Neighborhood Clash Over Land Use." (CP 166.) A copy of the article is attached as an exhibit to this petition.

So, despite the principal's assurance in 2003, the same problem – even worse – was presented. Drake Sisley filed this suit for libel. The claim did not name the high school student author as a defendant. The suit merely named as defendants the Seattle School District and the school administration that had permitted the defamatory publication.

The principal defense offered by the school district was that the student author had a First Amendment privilege precluding the district from censoring or changing what she had written. The cases decided by the United States Supreme Court reject this constitutional claim. The other claim by the defense was that Drake Sisley had a history of abuse of residential tenants, using convicted white supremist Keith Gilbert as a manager of his rental properties. This claim by the defense was totally false. Gilbert never managed any of Drake or Antoinette Sisley's properties.

The trial court dismissed the entire case by a summary judgment ruling. The trial court did not provide a written opinion, merely signing "x's" on her ruling on the contentions. Though not clear, the trial court seemed to adopt the defendant's First Amendment constitutional challenge. The Sisleys appealed to the Court of Appeals. The decision which we seek to be reviewed is unbelievable. It ignores the evidence established by the Sisleys by affidavit and deposition, and rules instead that evidence supplied by articles in "various Seattle newspapers" dictate affirmance.

V. ARGUMENT

Petitioners respectfully request Supreme Court review of this decision. This case does not even mention that it decides issues of fact as a

matter of law. The troublesome aspect is that for some reason in defamation cases, the courts have recently elected to review the gist or sting of the publication as a matter of law, ignoring a clear factual dispute.

Literal truth of a publication has been a complete defense to defamation. In November, 1981 our Supreme Court announced a modification of this rule in *Mark v. Seattle Times*, 96 Wn.2d 473, 635 P.2d 1081:

It is now generally agreed that a defamation defendant need not prove the literal truth of every claimed defamatory statement. A defendant need only show that the statement is substantially true or that the gist of the story, the portion that carries the 'sting' is true.

This was the first decision in Washington using the words "gist" and/or "sting" in a libel case. The source of this modification was *Prosser*, on *Torts* (4th Ed.). The *Mark* opinion also cited five decisions around the country. These five decisions did not define the terms "gist" or "sting" but it was not necessary. In each it was apparent that the allegedly libelous publication contained a minor error which no reasonable person could claim changed the overall substance of the publication.

Two of the decisions cited in *Mark* demonstrate this: *Turnbull v. Herald Co.*, 459 S.W.2d 516 (Mo. Ct. App. 1970) and *Dudley v. Farmer's*

Branch Daily Times, 550 S.W.2d 99 (Tex. Civ.App. 1977). In both of these cases, the alleged defamatory publications contained an error in the amount involved in the prosecution for burglary and theft. The court accurately pointed out that the sting of both reports was that criminal cases had been filed and the value of the items taken would make no great difference.

These were close factually to the *Mark* situation. The report in question stated that Mark had been arrested for Medicaid fraud and had "bilked the State out of at least \$300,000." In fact, Mark was charged with larceny based on a lesser amount with an audit revealing over \$200,000 in fraud billing. The court upheld summary judgment of the libel claim stating:

The inaccuracy, if any, does not alter the 'sting' of a publication as a whole and does not have a materially different effect on the viewer, listener or reader than that which the literal truth would produce.

The *Herron* case (*Herron v. KING TV*, 109 Wn.2d 514, 746 P.2d 295 (1985), 112 Wn.2d 762, 776 P.2d 48 (1989)) was decided in the late 1980s and was reviewed twice by our Supreme Court.

Herron was Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney. The KING news reporter, Don McGaffin, wrote and broadcast a story that stated:

Bail bondsmen heavily contributed to Herron's campaign – approximately half of all of the campaign funds collected by Herron.

Herron sued. The decision marks the first factual dispute on what is the "sting" of the broadcast. The trial court had dismissed the case by summary judgment, ruling that the sting of the broadcast was the following two true statements: (1) Prosecutor Herron is under investigation for bail bond practices; and (2) he accepted substantial sums from bail bondsmen to finance his election campaign. The trial court ruled that the words "approximately half" of the funds contributed did not make any material difference in the "sting" of the broadcast and granted summary judgment of dismissal.

Herron appealed, claiming that the true percentage of the bondmen's contribution was 2% and not approximately half, asserting that the words "approximately half" carried "significantly greater opprobrium" than 2%. The Supreme Court agreed in both decisions, ruling that the expression "approximately half" carried the implication that Herron had bargained away his integrity. Both Herron decisions contained the ruling that the true "sting" of the publication was altered by the words "approximately half."

The second *Herron* decision contained the following statement:

Credibility determinations, the weighing of evidence and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge, whether he is ruling on a motion for summary judgment or a directed verdict.

But in neither of the two *Herron* cases did either party seek remand for a jury determination.

In *Mohr v. Grant*, 117 Wn.App. 75, 68 P.3d 1159 (2003) the defendant KXLY-TV broadcast a series of news stories about a 40-year old man named Glen Burson who has Down's syndrome and the mental capacity of a 5-year old. The plaintiffs maintained a retail store and, on one occasion, Burson, who had a strange compulsion to wash the windows in the store, refused to leave. Mohr then physically escorted Glen Burson from the store premises at which time Glen Burson allegedly threatened the Mohrs, making slashing motions across his throat and saying he would shoot them. Mohr called the police and they arrested Burson, charging him with trespassing and harassment.

KXLY-TV then ran a broadcast in which Glen Burson personally appeared. Two others in the broadcast described Glen Burson as "gentle and childlike." The Burson family confirmed that, not surprisingly for one with a mental capacity of a 5-year old, he did not understand what was happening to him. Burson was later found incompetent to face trial and all charges against him were dismissed.

Mohr sued KXLY-TV alleging that the newscast falsely portrayed him as a bully who had physically assaulted the mentally disabled Glen Burson and callously subjected him to prosecution. At the initial trial court hearing, the court found that there was no convincing evidence that any of the KXLY-TV broadcast contained false statements and granted KXLY-TV's motion for summary judgment dismissing Mohr's complaint. Mohr appealed, stating that the broadcast created a false impression of him and his involvement in Glen Burson's arrest. Mohr and Grant disagreed about the gist or sting of the newscast. Mohr asserted that the gist was that "Elliott Mohr caused the arrest of a developmentally disabled individual because the individual came into Elliot Mohr's store to ask for candy." Grant disagreed, contending that the gist was that "the County was using taxpayer resources to prosecute a developmentally disabled man, based on charges brought by the owners of the Mohr business." The Court of Appeals ruled that an issue of fact was presented by these two interpretations and concluded that "what constitutes the sting of a news story is a question of fact for the jury. A reasonable jury could adopt Mr. Mohr's view of the case. . . the summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Mohr's claim is reversed."

The Supreme Court agreed to review the *Mohr v. Grant* decision. The issue of the differing interpretations of the gist were considered, but the court, in a single sentence, adopted the defendant's gist as a matter of law, stating: "... this court, not the jury, determined the gist of reports in at least two seminal defamation cases." The two cases cited were *Herron*, *supra* and *Mark*, *supra*.

Justice Chambers dissented, on the ground that reasonable minds would differ on the true sting and that a jury question was presented. The dissent was joined by two other justices, Bobbe Bridge and Faith Ireland.

A more recent decision is *US Mission Corp. v. KIRO-TV*, 172 Wn.App. 767, 292 P.3d 137 (2013). Plaintiff US Mission Corp. operated a transitional housing service in Seattle which permitted inmates released from jail a place to live provided by US Mission. KIRO broadcast on TV and published on its website a story entitled "Jailhouse Used to Find Door-to-Door Solicitors." The text read:

A transitional housing service in Seattle (US Mission) has been sending a bevy of historically violent felons, burglars and robbers, to your house to collect money –and there isn't a thing you can do about it.

The story also described US Mission's "pay-to-stay plan" where residents of US Mission houses are required to solicit money door-to-door in order to remain living at the houses, stating:

Operators typically load up a van with recent transients and known criminals, then drop them off in various neighborhoods. They are required to collect cash and checks to keep a roof over their heads.

A follow up story stated that KIRO investigators "discovered the kind of guys coming to your door are basically the kind right out of jail. Public records show house guests with records for assault, rape, kidnaping, attempted arson and residential burglary."

US Mission sued for libel. The trial court dismissed, entering a summary judgment for the defense under Rule 12(c). US Mission appealed, contending that four gists of the KIRO reports were false. The Court of Appeals decision announced "what constitutes the gist or sting of a story is a question for the court."

Three of the four gists that US Mission had claimed were false were the following:

(1) That "US Mission deliberately recruited violent criminals to solicit donations to the organization." The Court of Appeals disagreed,

concluding the gist of the story is not that the Mission "deliberately" seeks out violent criminals for solicitation purposes.

- (2) That "US Mission deliberately employs known criminals to solicit donations as a tactic because the use of such people to solicit donations is an effective means of threatening people with harm if they do not contribute." The Court of Appeals disagreed, concluding that there are no statements in the stories of US Mission using criminals to threaten people.
- (3) That "a significant portion of its solicitors have criminal records as violent felons." The Court of Appeals disagreed, stating that the stories do not discuss the proportion of felons and non-felons who live at US Mission and solicit.

The point here is that whether a reasonable person agrees or disagrees that these three gists that US Mission claimed were false — do they raise an issue of fact and is that to be decided by the court as a matter of law thereby removing it from a jury's determination.

Other authors have commented on the practice of judges deciding whether a libel has occurred announcing a particular interpretation of the "sting" or "gist" and then concluding that falsity had not been proved. In 73 New York University Law Review at p. 529, the following appears at p. 536:

But the ability to bring a libel claim to an early resolution carries with it an inherent trade off: given the admitted vagueness of the substantial truth standard, the judge enjoys a wide latitude within which to evaluate the merits of the plaintiff's claim, a latitude which increases the risk that the plaintiff's claim will be judged, not by the standards of the community (as seen by the jury) but by the standards of a single judge. This risk is inherent in the way courts apply the doctrine. Before a court can apply the substantial truth test, it must characterize the 'gist' or 'sting' of the publication. The doctrine provides almost no guidance for making this determination, implicitly presuming that the gist of the publication will be self-evident to the court. The substantial truth doctrine is therefore susceptible to abuse-a judge may use the doctrine to formulate a particular gist of the publication to justify a decision a judge has already reached regarding the publication's truth or falsity. When judges use the doctrine in this manner, the scope of the substantial truth test is not determined by any stable legal standard, but by how far a defendant can stretch the truth before a judge's individual libel alarm goes off. . . .

The concern of appellants here in seeking review is that this new Sisley decision represents a continuation of the erosion of the role of a finder of fact in Washington defamation cases and a gradual slide into permitting the court to rule, by announcing the court's conclusion of the "gist" or "sting" of a publication when reasonable minds differ on an issue of fact relating to falsity.

You see a striking example of that here. The defamatory article in question is very narrow in its scope. The title of the article included

"Developers and Neighborhood Clash Over Land Use." The "Sisley slums" identified in the article were precisely located "on the block west of 15th and 65th." The article concluded, referring to the houses that "the neighborhood may not have to deal with them for much longer." The falsity in this article and the reason plaintiffs filed this case was because the article falsely stated that Drake Sisley owned these slums. The Court of Appeals decision that we now request be reviewed does not refer to any affidavits that might support the statement that Drake Sisley owned these slums, nor any records of evidence of deeds, title or anything else. The decision refers merely to "articles in various Seattle newspapers" and heavily emphasizes the white supremacist, Keith Gilbert. This Court of Appeals decision, tacitly rules that no issue of fact has been presented and tacitly assumes that the court has the power to decide all issues in the case as a matter of law. This Court of Appeals decision, on almost every page, ignores substantial issues of fact. On p. 1, the decision refers to the "property surrounding the high school" stating that they are properties owned by "Drake and Hugh Sisley (the Sisley brothers)" – an outright falsehood.

A. FALSE STATEMENT – OWNERSHIP OF THE HOUSES DESCRIBED IN THE ARTICLE

From the beginning of this case, Drake Sisley established that neither he nor his wife, Antoinette, ever had any ownership of any of the rundown houses surrounding Roosevelt High School. Drake's affidavit filed in opposition to the motion for summary judgment is attached and reads in part as follows:

Neither my wife, Antoinette L. Sisley, nor I have ever at any time had any ownership interest in the run-down residences surrounding Roosevelt High School. I am entirely familiar with these run-down residences. They were the subject of *The Roosevelt News* article of 2003 (**Exhibit A** attached). This article falsely stated that together with my brother, Hugh Sisley, I 'owned' the white house on 15th. It falsely stated that together with Hugh Sisley, I have 'amassed a collection of over 55 houses in the area.' It ran a photo of one of the houses, falsely stating that it is 'one of the many run-down houses the Sisley brothers own.' These were all false factual statements.

This fact, that neither Drake nor Antoinette Sisley ever had any ownership in these houses was never controverted by the defense.

B. FALSE STATEMENT – KEITH GILBERT WAS A MANAGER OF DRAKE SISLEY PROPERTY

The decision refers on p. 2 to articles in "various Seattle newspapers," ultimately concluding that 'the evidence presented to the trial court demonstrated that Drake Sisley had knowingly allowed Gilbert to manage at

least one of the proerties in the Roosevelt neighborhood." This was false on its face because Drake Sisley never owned any of the Roosevelt properties and could not have had Gilbert as a manager, but beyond that, in Drake Sisley's deposition which lasted over 2 hours, Drake was repeatedly asked and repeatedly denied that Keith Gilbert was ever a manager of any of his rental properties at any location. The deposition questions and Drake's answers were as follows:

CP 43, p. 14

Q: What's your relationship with Keith Gilbert?

A: Oh, I didn't – I wouldn't say we had a relationship. He did rent a house from me at 5014 - 15th Avenue NE when I first bought it.

Q: So, other than being a tenant of yours, you had no other relationship with Keith Gilbert?

A: That is correct.

CP 43, p. 15:

Q: Was he managing that rooming house for you while he was renting from you?

A: He was the tenant. He had guests.

CP 44:

Q If somebody were to be evicted though, would Mr. Gilbert be the one who would make that decision as to whether he

wanted these guests to be in that rooming house or would it be you?

A: He had the tenant's right to do that. It wouldn't be me.

CP 44, p. 19:

Q: Approximately when did that happen? Were you told that he needed to leave?

A: That was within a year of when I signed the lease. He wasn't there for a full year. Nine months, about.

CP 50, p. 69:

Q: Would you agree that at one time Keith Gilbert did manage the one property we spoke about earlier today before lunch?

A: The Acme residence club, yes.

Q: He did manage that property for you, did he not?

A: No. He did not manage that club before me. He was a tenant of mine.

Q: Ok. But he managed the property in which he operated that club that you rented to him, isn't that correct?

A: I'm going to object to "manage." He was not a manager. He was a tenant.

Q: Ok, as the tenant he chose who the residents of that house were, he chose who were not the residents of that house, and he managed the property. When complaints came in he fixed the appliances and so on as you previously testified. Am I correct?

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