Supreme Court No. 90118-0

Received ^{Washington State Supreme Court} APR 18 2014 Ronald R. Carpen

Court of Appeals No. 69316-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DRAKE H. SISLEY and ANTOINETTE L. SISLEY, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

SEATTLE PUBLIC SCHOOLS, a local government entity,

Defendant/Respondent.

RESPONDENT SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JEFFREY A.O. FREIMUND WSBA No. 17384 Freimund Jackson & Tardif, PLLC 711 Capitol Way South, Suite 602 Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 534-9960 Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent

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

In July of 1982, Gilbert drove his car at Lamar Fort in an attempt to intimidate Fort. Fort was a black child that had been adopted by a white family. Fort avoided being struck by Gilbert's car only by moving out of the way at the last moment.

Between the summer of 1982 and March of 1983, Gilbert verbally harassed Scott Willey, Fort's white stepbrother. In March of 1983, Gilbert stated to Willey, "How are thee today? Thou shall not live long." In August of 1983, Gilbert sicced his large St. Bernard, whom he called "Nigger Eater," on Amanda Morrison. Morrison was a black child who lived with her adoptive white family across the street from Gilbert.

Mr. Gilbert's harassment and violence towards others continued

after he became associated with the Sisley brothers. See, e.g., Dawson v.

City of Seattle, 435 F.3d 1054, 1058, 1067 (9th Cir. 2006) ("DPH [Seattle-King County Department of Public Health] and the police were also concerned because these boardinghouses were owned by Hugh Sisley, whose associate, Keith Gilbert, previously had threatened DPH employees during their inspections of other Sisley properties. In light of Gilbert's violent criminal history, the police and DPH considered the possibility that Gilbert might try to disrupt the inspection, or even assault a member of the inspection team.").

The Sisley brothers' linkage to Mr. Gilbert is reflected in several other newspaper articles in addition to the 1998 and 1999 "Seattle Weekly" articles. For example, a February 2005 article in "The Seattle Times" newspaper, entitled "Two play key role in white supremacist's rise," reported "[a] key to Gilbert's influence in the [Roosevelt] neighborhood was his relationship with Hugh and Drake Sisley, two brothers who own dozens of properties in the area." CP 55-60, 89-90. The article quoted the former president of the Roosevelt Neighborhood Association as saying the Sisley brothers gave Mr. Gilbert "a position of responsibility and allowed his thuggishness to essentially represent them." CP 89. According to former Seattle City attorney Mark Sidran who also was quoted in the article, Hugh and Drake Sisley are "legendary" for their run-down properties, and Mr. Gilbert's racially-based criminal background

"introduced a level of fear and intimidation into the relationships with tenants and with the neighbors." *Id.* The article noted other people had commented on Mr. Gilbert's "confrontational personality and his racist beliefs. Other descriptions are even worse." CP 90. Drake Sisley was quoted as acknowledging that Mr. Gilbert is "ornery," "obnoxious" and "an in-your-face kind of guy" and that "[w]hen he was taking care of my properties, he shoveled the problems aside, combined them and multiplied them." CP 89. Mr. Sisley testified he was accurately quoted in this article, with the exception that he believes he said "property" not "properties." CP 58, 60.

A March 2007 article in "The Seattle Times" newspaper reported on Mr. Gilbert's prior convictions for possession of 1,400 pounds of stolen dynamite he intended to use to blow up a California stage where Martin Luther King, Jr. was scheduled to speak, and for shooting a motorist after insulting the motorist's race. CP 60-61, 93-94. The article stated Mr. Gilbert was "a racist and a bigot" who "became the property manager for a number of rental homes owned by well-known Roosevelt-area landlords Hugh and Drake 'Ducky' Sisley. Neighbors and former tenants said Gilbert was a bully who was known for his strong-arm tactics during evictions and other actions related to the rental properties." *Id.*

An October 2007 article in the "Seattle Weekly" reported "Drake

Sisley ... along with his brother, Hugh, rank as two of the most notorious landlords in the city. The brothers own an empire of shabby buildings in the University District ..., and ceded management of many of those to an even shadier figure, Keith Gilbert, a former Aryan Nation member convicted last year of illegally selling and possessing dozens of guns." CP 65-66, 99-100.

Drake Sisley acknowledges that Keith Gilbert managed one of his properties located about a mile from Roosevelt High School. CP 43-45. He admits he gave Mr. Gilbert the power to select, manage and evict tenants residing on his rental property for at least a nine month period. *Id.* He admits that he has received over 40 notices of violations from the City of Seattle regarding his rental properties. CP 80-81. He admits that he owns at least four rental properties within a mile of Roosevelt High School. CP 42. He also admits that as a result of the above-summarized newspaper articles from 1998 to 2007, he had a bad reputation in the community as having hired a racist white supremacist who bullied and used strong-arm tactics to evict tenants in run-down properties he owned in the area around Roosevelt High School. CP 56-58, 60-62, 65-68.

B. The Student's Newspaper Article at Issue

The March 2009 edition of "The Roosevelt News," the school newspaper for Roosevelt High School, contained an article by a student

reporter, Emily Shugerman, entitled "Sisley Slums Cause Controversy." CP 126, 129. The focus of the article was on rumors the Sisleys' rental homes surrounding the school might be torn down and re-developed with a tall building, and the neighbors' reaction to that possibility. *Id*.

The introductory paragraph of Ms. Shugerman's article, which is

the portion the Sisleys allege was defamatory in part, reads as follows:

A fixture on the landscape of Roosevelt, the "Sisley Slums" are the run-down houses located on the block west of 15th and 65th. Also endearingly referred to as the "crack shacks" or "ghetto houses", these buildings are rental houses owned by the infamous landlords Drake and Hugh Sisley. The Sisleys own more than forty pieces of property in Northeast Seattle, and have a bad reputation amongst both locals and city officials. In fifteen years these brothers have acquired 48 housing and building maintenance code violations, and have also been accused of racist renting policies.

CP 129; see also CP 2 (Plaintiffs' Complaint, ¶ V).

In researching her article, Ms. Shugerman went online to read various articles about the Sisley brothers and their rental properties, including articles in "The Seattle Times" and various blogs. CP 127. She also attended a meeting of the Roosevelt Neighborhood Association where the potential development was discussed, and interviewed two community members and a representative of the potential developer. *Id.* She no longer can recall precisely where she learned the Sisley brothers had been accused of racist renting policies, but believes she either read about the

accusation in one or more of the articles she read online, or heard it during the meeting she attended. *Id.; see also* CP 115-16.

C. The School District's Role in Production of "The Roosevelt News"

"The Roosevelt News" is a student-run newspaper. CP 106, 108. The reporters and editors are all students at Roosevelt High School. *Id.* Production of the newspaper occurs during an elective class called "Advanced Journalism," and after school hours. CP 107, 110-11.

There is one faculty advisor assigned to the newspaper, Christine Roux, who is available to answer the students' questions and assure deadlines are met, but has no role in editing or censoring the newspaper. CP 106-10, 112-14. Other than Ms. Roux, no school district employee plays any role in connection with the school newspaper. CP 107.

Once the student reporters and editors have created final drafts for their articles, they bundle the articles as PDF files and send them to an offcampus private business to print the newspaper. CP 111-12. About 1200 copies of the newspaper are printed for each issue. CP 114. These copies are distributed outside classrooms at the high school, and the remaining 100 to 150 copies are mailed to subscribers. CP 115.

The newspaper is "fully self-funded," meaning all revenue received from the newspaper, including advertisements, is used to pay the costs of producing the newspaper and purchasing equipment. CP 112-13. The school district does not pay for or receive any money from the school newspaper. *Id*.

The faculty advisor does not recall reading Ms. Shugerman's article before it was published. CP 115. However, she discussed the article with Ms. Shugerman after she learned the Sisleys filed a tort claim against the school district concerning the article. CP 115-18. Ms. Shugerman told Ms. Roux she did a "Google" search of the Sisley brothers online, attended a neighborhood meeting, and interviewed a few people when researching her article. *Id.*

D. The Trial Court's Summary Judgment Ruling

After discovery was completed, the school district moved for summary judgment on nine alternative grounds. CP 10-33, 214-19. The Sisleys opposed the motion. CP 130-47. In part, they relied on conclusory denials without submitting admissible evidence to meet their burden of proof on essential elements of their defamation claim. For example, Drake Sisley denied he owned rental properties within a block or two of Roosevelt High School, but other than his denial, provided no admissible evidence that only his brother Hugh Sisley owns those properties. *See id.* Similarly, the Sisleys submitted no evidence to support their conclusory denials that Drake Sisley's properties have been

"endearingly referred to" as the "crack shacks," "ghetto houses," or "slums," and that he has been "accused of racist renting policies." *See id.*

The trial court granted summary judgment on six alternative grounds. First, the trial court ruled as a matter of law that public school districts owe a duty to protect students from foreseeable harm, but do not owe a duty to protect non-students, such as the Sisleys, from a student's alleged defamation. CP 233. Second, as a matter of law, public school districts are not vicariously liable for a student's allegedly defamatory speech. Id. Third, as a matter of law, the Sisleys are unable to prove that, consistent with the First Amendment, the school district should have censored the student reporter's speech. Id. Fourth, the student's report that Hugh and Drake Sisley were "infamous landlords" who had been "accused of racist renting policies" is a non-actionable opinion that is not defamatory as a matter of law. CP 233-34. Fifth, the Sisleys are unable to prove the school district was at fault for the student's speech, and knew or should have known the student's speech was false. CP 234. Finally, the Sisleys are unable to prove plaintiff Antoinette Sisley was a target of the alleged defamation. Id.

The trial court denied summary judgment on three grounds. First, the trial court ruled the Sisleys were not collaterally estopped under the virtual representation doctrine from re-litigating the seven issues decided

in Hugh Sisley's prior lawsuit (CP 121-23),¹ in which Drake Sisley appeared as a witness. CP 233. Second, the trial court ruled genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment on the issue of whether the student reporter's newspaper article was false. CP 234. Third, the trial court ruled genuine issues of material fact precluded summary judgment on the issue of whether the student reporter's article caused damage to Drake Sisley's reputation. *Id.*

The Sisleys timely appealed the trial court's summary judgment order. The Sisleys did not assign error to the trial court's rulings that (1) school districts are not vicariously liable for students' alleged defamations, and (2) Antoinette Sisley's defamation claim was properly dismissed because she was not a target of the alleged defamation. Brief of Appellant, pp. 1-2. However, they did assign error to the other grounds supporting dismissal. *Id*.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

If discretionary review were granted, the Supreme Court would engage in the same CR 56 inquiry as the trial court and Court of Appeals. *Reid v. Pierce County*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 201, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). Summary judgment should be affirmed if there is no genuine issue of

¹ See Sisley v. Sea. Sch. Dist. No. 1, 171 Wn. App. 227, 286 P.3d 974 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1015, 297 P.3d 706 (2013).

material fact, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id*.

Summary judgment plays a "particularly important role" in defamation cases because "[s]erious problems regarding the exercise of free speech and free press guaranteed by the First Amendment are raised if unwarranted lawsuits are allowed to proceed to trial." *Mark v. Seattle Times*, 96 Wn.2d 473, 485, 635 P.2d 1081 (1981). When a defamation defendant moves for summary judgment, the plaintiff has the burden of establishing specific, material facts that would allow a jury to find every element of defamation exists, including falsity, an unprivileged communication, fault and damages. *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 197, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).

B. The Challenged Decision Is Consistent With Precedent, So Discretionary Review Is Unjustified Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2)

The Sisleys' petition for discretionary review is exclusively based on RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), which require them to show the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with another decision of the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals. *See* Petition for Review, p. 19. The Sisleys fail to cite any conflicting precedent. Instead, they acknowledge the Court of Appeals' decision is <u>consistent</u> with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedents. Id., at pp. 5-13.

The Sisleys argue that the Court of Appeals erred by deciding the question of whether "gist" or "sting" of a newspaper story is a threshold question for the court, not a jury. See id., pp. 5-13. However, the Sisleys concede that both the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have held this threshold question is properly resolved by the court on summary judgment, not a jury. Id. (citing or discussing, among other cases, Mohr v. Grant, 153 Wn.2d 812, 826, 108 P.3d 768 (2005), and United States Mission Corp. v. KIRO TV, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 767, 773, 292 P.3d 137 (2013)). The Sisleys solely rely on the Court of Appeals' decision in the *Mohr* case, which was reversed by the Supreme Court in Mohr v. Grant, 153 Wn.2d 812, 826, 108 P.3d 768 (2005), and the dissenting opinion in Mohr. See Petition for Review, pp. 8-10. Thus, the petition for discretionary review should be denied pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Sisleys are unable to show the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with binding precedents of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals.

C. If Discretionary Review Is Granted, Other Dispositive Issues Decided by the Trial Court, but not the Court of Appeals, Would Justify Affirming Summary Judgment

RAP 13.7(b) provides that "[i]f the Supreme Court reverses a decision of the Court of Appeals that did not consider all of the issues

raised which might support that decision, the Supreme Court will either consider and decide those issues or remand the case to the Court of Appeals to decide those issues." Accordingly, if the Sisleys' petition for discretionary Supreme Court review is granted, and if the Supreme Court were to reverse the Court of Appeals' ruling concerning the Sisleys' inability to prove the student reporter's article was false, the other six alternative bases for the trial court's summary judgment ruling would justify affirming summary judgment.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the Sisleys' petition for discretionary Supreme Court review should be denied.